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These appeals, heard together , are aga.inst the 
judgment of the Supreme Court at Suva delivered on the 
14th ?larch, 1904 the result of which was an ordor for 
specific peri'o~ -mce of an agreement by Mra . Hall to sell 
her leasehold interest in a small section of Native Land 
(Lot 6) at La.mi to Bilo Limted. The Court also declared 
that the Board 1

0 refuDal to consent to this transaction 
was invalid, anc f'om d that its consent had been given. 
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Mrs. Hall obtained a Memo~andum of Lease £rom 

the Board in 1955 and the land then comprised 24 parches .. 
The frontage was on Queens Road and the back boundary was 
the sea share. There appears to have been at Qne stage 
a bure erected on it but this was subsequently destroyed: 
and plays no part in the events giving rise t-0 this liti­
gation. Clause 18 of the lease provided that the lessee 
sho\Ud app1y such measures to check soil erosion as might 
be .required by the lessor in writing. Although this was a 
"Clause B - Residential" lease the normal building covenant 
\'f8.9 deleted, tbe reason being found in a r-~port ~ram th~ 

Board's secretary to the effect that on the destruction or 
demolition 0£ the oottagaa in this subdivision. the ap:p:t'Q­
priate authorities might wisb to prohibit building and a 
covenant would conflict with such a policy . The trial 
judge noted that 24 perches would be about the minim.um 
permissible araa for a residential eaction. in any: event. 

In April 1977 Mrs. Hall applied for c.onsent 
to t1'1ansfe:r this lot to Mr:• , D.R. Cork who was a di.vect:or Q~ 

tha respondent, Oork Builder~ Limited, but it was ~efu.sed on 
the grounds that there were no improvetnent.s <m. the l,.an.d... 
The Board took action to reposee6e thQ leas• but this We.$ 
d.iscontinued in November 1979 ~~ter Mtis . ,liall sought .a.n 
injunction, the Board admitting tha~ n~ n0t~e$ ~f EU).Y b~eaon 
had been givea to her. In February t980 ther~ waa • fuJM;he;r, 

applioation for consent to t~e.nefer t~ MP. C~~k fe» $6,0001 
his solieitore ststj,ng that ha wow.d take t,te,ps to ~tmt 
erosion whieh had &pparently me.de subatanti.al Ull'Oads into 
the seetion, and they indieated th~i:i-- o!..i.ant ·;Lnv.endea to 

erect a dwelling. 

This prompted a letter dated 11th Apri1 1980 
:from the .Board's Divisional Estate Man~ (Mw., ~Oj ~Ki»d7) 
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iio Mrs. Hall's solicitora headed "Notice of breach oi; lee.sG 
eonditions", After stating that an inspecition disclosed 
the lot was vacant and affected by erosion, he gave notice 
o:f non-complianee with t~e term requi~ing the lessee to 
.maintain and keep in good repair all buildings erected on 
the land. Notice was also given requiring eraction of a 
sea wall and the rep'.l.a.cement o:f eroded land. A penal rent 
df $600 was imp~sed and the Board expressed its intention 
to enter upon and to take possession of the land if the 
br-e~ch was not reme·died wi tlrln one year. CQnsent to ·~he salt 

to 11~ 4 Cork was again refused. There was f~ther correspond• 
:ence between the solici tor,a a.nd 1'.'fi:' . MoKirdy, and in November 
1980 {when nothing ha.d. been done to comply with the oonditio1 
rJr. Cork informed PSrs. Hall that he had a buyer for Lot E 
for $10,000 and propo$~d that she and his c0mpany should 
share equally the extra $4,000 over and above what he had 
been prepared to pay her. 

Thia new transaction arose as a result of Cork 
Builders Limited advertiaing the adjoining Lots 4 and 5 
:for sale ii.n early November through a lan.d agent, and 'Bilo 
Limi t ·ed became interested. That com_pany already held Lot 3 
and on learning that Lot 6 might also be availabla it of':ferec 
$80,000 ~or the tbree as a paekage deal. The commercial 
potential is obvious. Jtir. Philp, the Direetor of Bilo 
Limited, had inspected Lot 6 and said about 4~fa had been 
1<'et to the sea; it was eom.pl.etely overgrown an,d generally 
an eyesore. He rang Mr'. M~Kirdy to ascertain the Board's 
re-ae-&ion to a t;vansfer t0 his company and said he was t-old 
there wa-s no reason why ·bhe Board would not agree, provided 
·bhe breaches of the lea-ae were remedied, He said llr. 1',1~.Kird;y 

advised him t0 insert in the lette.r sup:p0rting the applioat-ic 
words to the following effeet: 
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"Bilo Limited will immediately on transfer 
or advised on agreement to transfer, re-build 
sea wall, :fill, clean and grade land and 
grass and fence property in a manner that 
will enable the said lot to be used by the 
tenants of Lots 4 and 5 Hukuwatu Subdivision 
until a development scheme is warranted." 

It is accepted that Mr. McKirdy, as the Estate 
Officer, was vested by the Board with the power to consent 
to this transfer. 

The firm of Messrs . t1i.tchell Keil & Associates 
acted for all parties in this transaction, although 1irra . 

Hall's usual solici~tors were Messrs . Lateef and Lateef. On 
26th November 1900 two agreements were prepared by the land 
agents, ezpressed to be made between Cork Builders Limited 
and Bilo Limited or nominees, one covering the sale of Lots 
4 and 5 with improvements (understood to be a dwelling and 
contents) for $71,000, and the other Lot 6 at $10, 000. The 
former agreement was signed by tfr. Cork as governing 
director of his company. The other agreement was simply 
signed by him personally . After payment of a deposit of 
$1 , 000 on signature, (duly paid to the land agent), it 
provided for payment of the balance of $9,000 in cash "upon 
production of an assignment of lease to Bilo Limited by 
Lotus Hall , current lessee, or a transfer of such lease". 
The agreement was expressed to be subject to all necessary 
consents, and settlement was ·co take place not later than 
the assignment of the current lease by lat-s . Hall to Bilo 
Limited, "with the latter at risk to obtain consent to 
transfer of lease from N. L. T. B" . 

An application for consent to assign on the 
.Board's standard printed form was completed by !i?rs . Hall and 
n~. Philp on the 1st December 1980 and sent with a covering 
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letter from Mitchell Keil & Associates on the same day, along 
with the similar application for Lots 4 and 5. This letter 
contained in quotation marks the words suggested by r~. 
McKirdy which I have already cited. However, 1'.'lr. fi:cKirdy 
replied on the 5th December 1980 stating that tho :Board was 
not prepared to give consideration to the transfer of Lot 
6 until the "requirements imposed on the lessee for broach 
of lease conditions had been f'ul filled to the entire 
satisf'action of the Board" . He also referred to the fact 
that Bilo Limited had no intention of building "until a 
development scheme is warranted" this being, according to 
Mr . Philp•s recollection, the very term that he had been 
advised to put in the letter of application. J!r' . l'icKirdf 
pointed out in his letter that such a delay constituted a 
breach of the lease conditions and was precisely the reason 
for the Board taking action against ~'!r's. Hall. He 
requested the assignee to disclose his plans so that tho 
Board could give whatever consideration was warranted to 
such a scheme, adding "cl early, tho present broaches would 
need to be remedied prior to such consideration being given" • 
He indicated that the transfer of Lots 4 and 5 was in order, 
but as the transaction appearod to be a "package deal" 
the applicat ions would be held pending reply . 

From the tenor of this letter it is quite clear 
that Mr. McKirdy was under the misapprehension that the 
lease contained a building covenant and this appears to have 
affected his view throughout his handling of the Bilo 
application. Certainl y the latter accepted that there ~as an 
obligation on the lessee to satisfy the Board ' s requirements 
about building on the section and this is borne out by 
Mr. Philp 1 s letter to :ur. !-.1cICirdy of the 8th December 1980, 
in which he referred to the above reply of the 5th. He made 
it clear that he V✓as in the process of remedying the erosion 
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problem, and intended to do a commercial development of 
the tbree lots when permitted by the Council's zoning , which 
he expected to be within 3 years . He said that in the mean­
time they would grass and grade lots and swing the dividing 
fence across to the Queens Road frontage to keep out un­
authorised people and drinking parties and "so make it 
possible to let premises on Lots 4 and 5, pending development" . 
He added that if the commercial development was unduly delayed 
they would build apartments on Lot 6, for which they had paid 
in full. This refers to payment of the balance of $9,000 to 
the solicitors, who had also prepared a memorandum of transfer 
of Lot 6 and obtained n:trs . Hall ' s signature thereto about the 
1st December 19C0 . On that date -they paid Mrs . Hall $5,000 
and credited $4,000 to the trust account of Cork Builders 
Limited. A further sum of $750. 00 from the land agents was 
also paid into that account . 

r.tr. McKirdy replied to 1.irr. Philp•s latter on the 
18th December pointing out that there seemed to be confusion 
as to the grounds upon which the Board would consent to the 
transfer and the type of land use allowed, and he referred 
to the contents of his letter of 5th December to the 
solicitors. He -bhen detailed the notice of breach served on 
Mrs. Hall's solicitors in April 1980 and its requirements, 
together with the Board ' s intention to retake possession if 
they were not remedied within one year. He concluded by 
saying the Board was not prepared to give consideration to 
the proposed transfer until the breaches were remedied to 
its satisfaction and enquired whether the company wished to 
proceed with the transfer of the lease over Lots 4 and 5. 

The next development was a letter from a £irm 
of engineers to tho Doard on 6th January 1981 ccrti£ying 
that they had inspected work in progress on Lot 6 and 
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described the erection of an adequate sea wall and progress 
on land reclamation. This was followed by a letter from 
Bilo Limited of 16th January 1981 advising completion of 
this work and expressing the hope that tho planning formal­
ities would be concluded within the year, enabling them to 
p;-oceed with the commercial development across the front of 
tho three lots in accordance with a sketch plan cnclosod. 
They advised that should the commercial undertaking be unduly 
delayed, they would proceed to develop Lot 6 for residential 
purposes within two years. Tho letter concluded with the 
statemont that as the whole project for lots 4, 5 and 6 was 
to enable the development of a sensible commercial property, 
"they sought tho Board ' s assistance and indulgence of the 
Board to allow the transfer of the three lots to proceed now" . 

This letter was followed by one from r1essrs . 
Mitchell. Keil & Associates of 26th February 1981 pointing 
out that ·che breaches had been attended to and building 
proposals put to the Board, which they hoped would lead to 
the transfer of the three lots together. If not, they asked 
that approval to transfer Lots 4 and 5 be given at that stage 
and that the Board advise if anything further was required to 
be done before Lot 6 could be transferred. To this Mr . 
McKirdy replied on the 10th Na.rch with consent to transfer 
Lots 4 and 5, and stated that tho other points raised in the 
letter would be answered separately. However, on 31st 1.Tarch 
1981 he wrote directly to Mrs. Hall telling her that consent 
to the transfer of Lot 6 had been refused on the ground 
that the proposed assignee had no intention of builC..i.ng on 
the land for at least 2 years . He added: 

"We have reviewed your case and are now 
prepared to consider any assignment appli­
cation so long as the assignee makes subs-
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tantial progress toward improving the land 
within six months from the date of the 
assignment . " 

As will become apparent l ater in this narrative, 
this paragraph was added as a result of a proposal for tho 
transfer of Lot 6 to Mr. Cockburn , with whom Mr . !!cKir dy 

had also been dealing over the period the transfer to Bila 
Limited was under considerati on . On 3rd April 1981 he 
received an application signed by Mrs . Hall and Mr ,' Cockburn 
for consent to this at a consideration of $10,000 and approved 
it the same day. Ho then wrote on the 7th April 1981 to 
Messrs . t 'fitchcll Keil & Associates advising that h o had 
informed Mrs . Hall consent had been refused to Bilo Limitcd ' s 
transfer on the grounds that it had no intention 0£ buildinB 
for at l east 2 years. Ho said this was not acceptable to tho 
Board, in view of tho past history of the tenancy. Reference 
to that company ' s lotter of 16th January 1981 demonstr ates 
that he was wrong in mald.ng this statement . It said that 
in the event of delay with the commercial project , it would 
develop Lot 6 for residential purposes within 2 years . 

It is now appropriate to deal with 1.1r. Cockburn ' s 
involvement . According to the record (correspondence having 
been admitted in the Supreme Court by consent) I~. Cockburn 
first wrote to the Doard on the 24th October 1980 stating 
that he wished to purchase Lot 6 from 11rs. Hall and that he 
intended rebuilding the sea wall and constructing a residence . 
Thie l etter was marked for the attention of Mr . McKirdy and 
indicates that it followed discussions with him. He asked 
for confirmation that the lease would be assigned after the 
sea wall and the foundations of the house had been inspected. 
There is on tho Board •s file a reply by r1r . HcKirdy of the 
6th November 1980 pointing out that in April 1980 Urs. Hall 
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was served with notice of breach of the lease terms r equiring 
her to maintain buildings on the land. In r espect of her 
failure to check the erosion the erection of a sea wall was 
required, together with replacement of land to bo carried 
aut under engineering supervision. He also referred to the 
Board ' s intention to repossess failing remedy of tho breach 
within one year . He went on to say that it TTOuld be prepared 
to grant consent subject to the conditions being complied with 

to its full satisfaction, detailing what was needed for tho 
erosion problem and specifying completion to the foundation 
stage of the residence Mr-. Cockburn intended to construct . 

The next item on the r ecord is a letter of the 
same date (24th October) as that written to the Board, 
addressed to Mr. Cork and purporting to confirm Mr . Cockburn ' s 
intention to have 1'lrs , Hall ' s lot assigned to him at the 
total purchase price of $12 , 000, comprising an initial deposit 

of $500 , a further payment of $5,500 payable within seven days 

of assignment of the lease, and the bal ance to be provided 
by architectural services (ntr-. Cockburn was a member of an 
architectural partnership) to the value of $7,500 , with a 
cash adjustment if necessary. The letter went on to say 
the Board had agreed the assignment could occur after the 
sea wall and the foundation of the residence had been com­
pleted, followed by the words "in this respect find encl osed 
a copy of their l etter", '.!e mention at this stage the only 
letter this could relate to is that we have just referred to 
from ttr. McICirdy of 6th November, and this casts grave doubts 
on the date of 24th October attributed to this letter, o.nd 
on ito authenticity. It concluded that the offer was subject 
to the approval of the Board and the Larni Town Council and 
was silJ11.ed by tfr' . Cockburn, with the word "Accepted11 typed 
at the bottom followed by a space for signature . However, 
this was blank. 



10 

To compound the confusion over dates, Mr. Cockburn 
wrote a letter of the 5th December 1980 to Wir. Cock stating 
that he had been in Singapore and that during his absence a 
letter was received from the Board confirming its approval 
of the assignment of lirs . Hall ' s lease to him after reinsta­
ting a sea wall and constructing the house foundations and ho 
referred to it as being enclosed. (Again this could only bo 
I:lr . McKirdy I s letter of 6th November) . He then vi'ent on to 
say discussions with the Town Council and Planning Authorities 
indicated no obstaclbs to the erecti on of tho house , and 
forwarded his clioql1e for 11 $500 in accordance with our agrecmen1; 
dated 24th October 198011

• He accepted that the lease transfer 
should go through in about three or four months after he had 
submitted a planning application in the near future . 

There was another letter on the record dated 7th 
:November 1980 from him to Mr. Cork, stating that he was 
aware Mr . Phil p was filling the site and i t was understood 
he had bought both Mr. Cork ' s house and Lot 6 . He poi.."1.tcd 
out that he had an o.grcement with Mr. Cor k, as .Mrs . Hall ' s 
agent , to buy the lease subject to the Board and Council ' s 
"comment" (? "consent"); and that after indications of 
planning approval o.nd r eceipt of the Board ' s letter which 
arrived during his absence , he had written enclosing the 
deposit of $500 as agreed , He expressed disappointment and 
asked 1:lr . Cork to clari fy the matter . r.1hcn read in conjunction 
with 1'fi:' . llcKirdy' s letter of tho 6th November and the let·t;er 
of the 5th December from I.1r . Cockburn to !.'rr . Cork ( to which 
I have just referred) the date of the 7th November on thio 
letter cru1 be seen as a mistake; it should have been dated 
7th December. 

This i s not the end of the .c:in.tter , however , 
because there is another letter from lh' . Cockburn to the 
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Board dated 8th November 1980 , acknowl0dging J..'rt' . l!cKirdy' s 
letter of the 6th November and apologising for the delay in 

replyinG because he had only recently returned to Fiji after 
tl:iree weeks away. He referred to a telephone conversation 
of the same date expressing his concern about 1.'fr' . Cork ' s 
breach of the agreement by selling Lot 6 to someone else 
who was currently on the site carrying out earthworks . 
(It is clear that lh' . Philp did not start work until early 
in December) . He then r eferred to his letter of 24th October 
indicating his intention$ about this land, and stated that 
he had already cleared the site and had taken some engineerint 
advice; and that he had discussed the problem with Mrs . Hall . 
He said she was rtot reallu involved and that while r.:fr . Cork 
mentioned his iniierest to her initially, he bad to sell her 
site as a condition requested by the purchaser of his own 
property, and she was only i nterested in getting something 
for the transfer of her lease . He asked for any comments 

that the Board might have . This l etter bears the Board I s 
date stamp of 15th December. V!e are again satisfied that 
th,e Uovember date must be a mistake and it should have 
be.en dated the 8th Docember 19130. 

The cheque of $500 sent to Mr . Cork was returned 
to ],'rt' . Cockburn by Messrs. Mi tchcll Keil & Associates in a 

letter dated 24th Tiecember 1980. They said his letters of 
7th November and 5th December addressed to rat-. Cork had been 
referred to them, and as he was overseas the matter must 
await his return towards the end of January. A photocopy 
of the cheque a.11nexod to this letter shows that it is dated 
4th November 1980 , which hardly seen.a to fit in with any 
of the dates discussed . 

There is nothing on the admitted record between 
the la.st letter sent by Mr . Cockburn to the Board and the 
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consent granted on tho 3rd April 1981 to the application 
si(71.cd by him and !.'.frs . Ho.11. It bears a note to the effect 
that the original was handed to !i.trs . Cockburn on that date . 
After this came a letter from 1lfesers . Lo.tcef & Latecf of 
the 6th April to r!essrs. ~'Iitchcll Keil & Associates stating 
that the Board had refused consent to the transf'er :from 
:Mrs . Hall to Bilo and they were accordingly instructed to 
refund the sum of $5 1 000 paid to her . A trust account 
cheque was encloood, but it was rotun.1ed in a brief note 
stating that it was not accepted. 

On 7th April 1981 Ur. McKirdy wrote to 
r!b:·, Cockburn stating that consent to the assignocnt had been 
granted subject to ~easonabl e progress being made for improv­
ing the land within six months from the date of transfer . 
We note there were no conditions endorsed on the consent to 
the signed application. He went on to say that ·t;hc Board 
would be satisfied with completion to foundation stage by 
1st October 1981 of a dwelling having a minimum floor o.rca 
of 800 square feet with final completi on expected within a 
reasonabl e period thereafter, and I.tr . Cockburn confirmed this, 
subject to o.ny matter outside his control. 

Bilo Limited co.me back into the picture with a 
letter of 27th April 1981 from its solicitors to the Board 
r eferring to further representations , as u result of which 
they understood i t would grant consent to the transfer from 
!Jfrs. Hall if building works were commenced and reached found­
ation stage by October 1981, a condition Hhich v,ould be 
acceptable to that company. It asked i:f the matter could 
be treated as a reconsidera·t;ion of the oriBinal application. 

In his evidence (which was unreservedly accepted 
by the Judge) 1.'lr. Philp said that he spoke to Jl·fi:' . T:fcKirdy 
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on the 23rd April and queried why the same condition appli­
cable to Mr. Cockburn was not imposed on Bilo Limited . 
Ho was advised that ii' his company resubmitted the application 
the Board would approve dn the same grounds, and that there 
seemed to be no reason why more than one consent could not 
be given , This prompted his sol icitors • letter of 27th 
April, to which :r,~ . McKirdy replied on the 1st May indicating 

that a fresh application would be needed . He pointed out that 
because of the consent granted to r11r', Cockburn, the Board 
would be reluctant to grant a consent to Bilo Limited while 
the other was still current . There was some further corres­
pondence between these sol icitors and the firm acting for 
Mrs . Hall in which they sought in vain to have her sign a 
fresh application. she had already previoUsly returned her 
cheque f or $1,000 to r.1r, Cork, who wrote to Mr. Keil on the 
8th tby r eporting oh a discussion with Mrs . Hall , in which 
he tried to get her to sign another transfer to Bilo Limited . 
He was at some pains to point out there could be no claim 

against him because the property was sold without ·che Board ' s 
approval . 

Evidence generally supplementing the contents of 
this correspondence was given by Mr . Philp at the hearing. 
He said that before signing the agreement to buy Lot 6 from 
Mrs . Hall he had spolrnn to rJr. McKirdy, who advised him. 

that provided the breaches were remedied he saw no reason 
why the Board would not consent and on that assurance the 
company entered into the agreement . He added that r.'fr . r.icKirdy 
mentioned Mr. Cockburn ' s interest in Lot 6 and that he had 
given him simil ar advi ce . !rr . C-or k told Hr . Philp he was 

acting as l'o:'s . Hall ' s agent, and that there might be some 
trouble from. the Board, and he was also told of the refusal 
of the previous appl ication. That was given as the reason 
why the clause was added to the agreement about consent 
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beil:ig at risk of Bila Limited . He took on the rcspor.si­
bility of obtaining this . The possibility that it might not 
be.given did not cross his mind because of the assurance he 
received from r!r'. McKirdy. 

He moved in promptly to start the remedial work, 
being "reasonably confident" of getting consent and said 
he did not know that l.1r . Cockburn vlas then ready to purchas~ . 
Counsel accepted that he spent $5,000 in dealing with the 
erosion and restoring the land, and ~.fi'. Philp said the work 
was carried out in December and January and the land was 
fenced to prevent the public using it . He said there were 
many calls to the Board in February 1981, and in early March 
he was informed that Mr . Cockburn had lodged a cavaat against 
the lease . This followed an earlier one lodged on behalf of 
his company. He was told by Mr. Railoa (an officer of the 
Board) about the 8nd of February that the work was in order 
and he understood that cventuaily his solicitors had the 
Cockburn caveat removed. 

Mr. Keil gave evidence about the discussions 
and correspondence with Mr . 
Company) about this caveat. 
of the 24th October alleged 

Cockburn ' s solicitors (Chauhan & 

It was based on the sale note 
to hav0 been signed by n'.Tr. Cork, 

this being the l etter to which I have already referred to 
as of doubtful authenticity. r,'.Tr. Keil wrote stating that 
Ur . Cork was not aware of having signed aJJ.Y sale note, 
leading to an accusation through Mr. Chauhan that the latter 
was telling 11blatant lies". He described how :i'.:lr , Cork had 
assisted in its preparation; that it was siGT1ed by Y.ir . Cockburn 
and handed to the former, who then took it away to sign, 
intending to return it. As counsel said, this was a very 
curious way to complete· the signing of an apparently straight_ 
forward agreement. Mr. Chauhan wrote to .Mr . McKirdy 
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on the 18th Imch asking him not to grant consent until the 
caveat issue had been determined. In spite of his assertion 
tha:t the request for its withdrawal would be contested, it 
was in fact removed shortly after without any further action 
being necessary. 

~tr- . Philp knew nothing about consent being given 
to Mr , Cockburn's transaction until told by his solicitors 
and he did not know anything about the payments of the 
purchase price made or credited by time to rrtrs . Hall or Cork 
Builders Limited. To complete this narrative: Mr. Chauhan 
prepared a sale agreement for the transaction between 
Mrs. Hall and l.7r• Cockburn and sent it to her solicitors for 
approval and signature on the 8th April; She signed on the 
9th with minor amendments inserted by agreement . The caveat 
lodged by Biio Limited is still effective; no transfer has 
been completed and she is still registered as the lessee . 
It is not cloo.r from tho record whether the Board ' s consent 
to Mr. Cockburn's transfer is still operative , as it appears 
to have been extended only to 3rd October 1981 . 

~e. Pleadings ,and JU<!grncnt: 

As a result of these tl:-anaactions Bilo Limited 
issued proceedings in the Supreme Court against Mrs. Hall, 
Cork Builders Limited , tho Native Land Trust Board and 
Mr . Cockburn. In its statement of claim, after alleging the 
agreement for sale and purchase between it and Cork BuiJ.d. .. 

Limited as agent for ra-s . Hall, Bilo I,imited recited the 
application for consent to tho :3oard "which advised it 
would consider the same on compliance by the first defen~ 
(Mrs. Hall) with certain requisitions in respect of the 
ea.id land''• It goos on to deal with the payment of the 
purchase price , tho work done by the plaintiff and its 
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advice to the Board of building plans, and alleges that 
the Board's Officers informed it the application was being 
processed and indicated that it would be favourably consider­
ed; that it then refused consent for the reasons stated in its 
letter of 7th April 1981; thereafter Mrs. Hall forthwith 
contracted to sell the land to Mr-. Cockburn and applied to 
the Board for consent which was given immediately, subject 
to the conditions we have mentioned above. It alleges the 
defendants "collectively and severally" colluded and/or 
conspired to prevent the plaintiff from obtaining the land 
and that either ail or some of them had defrauded the 
plaintiff, or in the alternative did not act :ln good faith, 

The plaintiff prayed a declaration that the 
Board's refusal to consent to the sale of the land was 
invalid ih that it acted :fraudulentiy or in bad faith with 
an improper purpose, and asked that such refusal be set aside. 
If further sought an order that Mrs . Hall join in an appli­
cation for the Board's consent. There was a claim against 
Cork Builders Limited and Mr's . Hall for damages for breach 
of contract and in respect of the plaintiff's losses arising 
out of the other actions. Alternatively it asked that they 
refund the $10,000 paid together with interest and compensa­
tion for the value of all improvements carried out, and 
finally that its caveat be extended pending the hearing. 
There was also a claim for other relief. 

We do not propose detailing the matters raised 
in the statements of defence; where relevant, they will be 
referred to in this judgment. Generally they denied the 
allegations of fraud and conspiracy and make the point that 
Bilo Limited•e agreement was subject to the consent of the 
Board which was never granted and accordingly there was no 
liability in the circumstances to compensate it for the 
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money spent in necting the Board 's conditions. llr. Cockburn 
r&ised the point that any agreement entered into by the 
plaintiff without consent would be illoga.l and void , At 
tho hearing, "i:ihe correspondence :::md othor documents in the 
record were ad.mi t-t;ed by consent and evidvncc ·was given :for 
Bilo by Mr, 'Philp, r.tr- . Koil c.nd sevor2~ mcmbora of the 
Board•s s taff. llr. MoKirdy was not cnlled, the explanati on 
being that ho was no longer in Fiji, but -~he "Board ma.de 
available to tho Court ·l;he whole of its file wi thout any 

claim of privilege, No evidence was Given by any of the 
other parties . In a l engthy reserved decision the trial 
Judge oxprcaeed a vory adverse opinion of certain conduct 
and we quote this extract frcm page 16 of his judgment : 

"A very detailed study of all documents, 
admissions in pleadings and evidence given in 
Court l eads me to only one conclusion and that 
is that F,'lt' , Cockburn a.nd Ur, McKirdy did 
collude and conspire to prevent Bilo f'rom 
obtaining the land. Their conspiracy was 
intended to block Bile's purchase of Lot 6 
and to ensure c.hat 'Mr . Cockburn obtained the 
land without having to pay for the r eclama­
tion work which he had earlier indicated in a 
l etter to the Boa.rd he was prepared to carry 
out at his own expense . In the final stages 
it appears likely that I.Ir-s . Hall was pereundod 
to join in the conspiracy. l'.Ir . Cockburn als ... 
appears to have boon aided and abetted by his 
solicitors Messrs. Chauhan C; Company. 11 

In what raust necessarily be a brief analysis of 
the dc·tailed reasons he gave f'or this conclusion, we rcf'or 
to the contrast he was between Dilo 1s troatmcnt and the 
prompt consent given to Mr . Cockburn ' s application and tho 
building conditions imposed, which seemed a n.cre formality. 
He saw a change of attitude in LTr . r:cKirdy's letter of 
5th December 1980 to Mitchell Keil L Associates and his 
failure to disclose ritr- . Cockburn I s application to them as 
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an indioation that by 'tho11. he was working hand in glove 
with him. ea~lly in the light of :ar . Ra.ilea ' a ovidcmco 
that the Board did not in practice entertain two applications 
at one time and would doal first with the earlier. He 

acknowledged rm:-. Philp•s evidence that he was in:formed about 
Mr. Cockburn's interest, but pointed out that he was not told 
conditional consent would be given to the latter 's application 

The Judge saw sinister overtones in the corres­
pondence between Mr. Cockburn and Mr- . r.1cKirdy during October 

and November. He thought the farmer 's letter of 24th October 
to the Board would not have boon necessary in tho light of 
the previous discussions with Mr. McKirdy , and found tho 
latter's reply of the 6th November 1980 an "astowiding 
document", indicating such a departure from the usual pract­
ice of the Board as to r aise seri ous doubts at that early 
date about his conduct . With respect, we can find nothing 
extraordinary about this corrcspond0nce which follows much 

the same pattern as the initial enquiries made by i1r . Philp 
and the advice he received. While a~ assurance of consent 
was given to Mr. Cockburn, this could well be duo to his 
commitment to build a house, whereas Bilo Limited was still 
planning a development . 

He then tu.med to the other letter of the 
24th October to Mr. David Cor k and found that date to be 
false, and we think this conclusion was fully justified for 
tho reasons we have already stated. As both letters had 
been typed on the same day, he was surprised Ur. Cockburn 
did not point out to the Board that he already had o.n 

agreement to purchase Lot 6 , instead of indicating merely 
a wish to buy that land from Mrs . Hall. Ho then went on to 
discuss the discrepancies in the dates of the other letters 
sent by Mr. Cockburn in November, to which we have already 
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roferrcd. We have reached the conclusion that they fit 
into a logical pattern enabling us to accept tho innocent 

cxplo.nation that tho November dates were typod in error for 
Dooember. However, the Judge decided that all this corres­
pondence had been deliberately back.dated by r1r. Cockburn 
with Mr. McKirdy ' s ac;,nniva.nce, ih order to make it appear 
that he had been first on the scene with his enquiry. ~ith 
the greatest respect to the Judge , we think this overlooks 
Ur. Philp ' e clear evidence that when he first enquired of 
t-tr . McKirdy , he was told of Mr, C0ckburn 1 s interest. It 
clearly supports the genuineness of his letter of the 
24th October and Mr. McKirdy 1 s reply of the 6th November. 

We think tho Judge had stronger grounds for tho 
conclusions he reached about the October lotter to Mr. Cork 
and the way Mr . Cockburn and his solicitors used it to 

support tho claim to register a caveat against the loase. 
The Judge saw complicity by Mr . Chauhan be oause it must have 
been apparent to him that this document was not a sale note, 
as verified in the supporting declaration which he would 
have propared for his client; it was merely an offer . 
Mr. Reddy (who appoarad in this Court for Mr . Cockburn) 
found himself in tho embarrassing position of having to offer 
axpl.a.nations from the Bar for conduct which Mr. Cockburn could 
have explained himself at the trial, but did not soe fit to. 
We hasten to add that he was r e presented there by other 
counsel . 

In the circumstances the trial Judge can hardly 
be criticised for drawing the unfabourable inferences , he 
did about 1tr- . Cockburn's intentions and conduct. The alle­
gation of fraud made against him in tho state.:nent of claim 
and the plaintiff's evidence clearly signalled the risks he 
ran by remaining silent. The circumstances surrounding the 
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l."&gietration of the caveat and the Board's grant of oonsent 
pointed to his complicity and bad faith. Added to those 
was the obvious advantage of acquiring this property 
adjoining the other three lots, all ripe for commercial 
development, on which so much had been spent in good faith 
by Bilo. If Mr. Cockburn's conduct was as irreproachable 
as Mr. Roddy submitted to us, it is indeed surprising that 
neither he nor his coW1sel (on whose advice he was no doubt 
relying) felt that he should give evidence in rebuttal of 
the obvious inferences which could be drawn against him. 
His silence in these circumstances could only strengthen 
them. 

Finding3 of Fraud: 

Mr. Reddy inf"ormed us that Mr. Cockburn•s main 

interest in prosecuting his appeal was to clear his character 
of the very serious reflections cast on it by the Judge . We 
are of the opinion that the latter went beyond what cou.ld 
properly be inferred from the evidence in concluding that he 
ho.d resolved vo.th Mr. McKirdy as far back as late October or 
early November to perpetrate a f:raud on Mr . Philp•s company. 
Nor do we think that it supported a conclusion that he had 
deliberately back-dated all the letters to achieve this 
purpose . The references in those dated in November to evente 
which aJ.l concerned knew wero taking place in early December 
make it obvious they were written then, and we cannot sec what 
Mr. Cockburn could think he would achieve by such a trans­
parent attempt at deception if he back-dated those. As we 
have already indicated, we think the circumstances point to 
honest mistake, rather than tho more sinister view reached 
by the Judge . 

On the other hand we find a cloud of suspicion 
surrounding the letter dated 24th October 1980 to 11:r . Cork , 
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the caveat based upon it o.nd th0 assertive letters written 
by Mr. Chauhan. In the absence of any explanation of tho 
unsatisfactory features, the conclusion was very much open 
to be drawn that this letter had been written at a later 
date in order to support a clo.im to a written agreement with 
Mr. Cork, upon which a caveat could be based . 

We also share the concern felt by the Judge 
over the circumstances leading to Mr-. McKirdy •s immediate 
grant of consent to r;1r. Cockburn's application on the 
.3rd April with an insignificant building condition, followed 
by his intimation to Mrs. Hall only (and not, as one would 
expect , to the solicitors who forwarded the application) 
that consent had been declined , and notifying her of a 
condition which Bilo would have been prepared to- comply with, 
Like the Judge, we see sinister implication in Ur. McKirdy's 
delay in writing to the solicitors until after consent had 
been given to t'lr'. Cockburn in spi tc of his earlier promise 
to do so; and in his failure to tell them of the less onerous 
conditions the Board was then ready to impose, and which he 
had intimated to Mrs . Hall. As we have said earlier, his 
letter to her suggests that he was simplj clearing a way 
for the application which he knew was go:Lne to come in f:r-om 
1t:-. Cockburn. Coupled with this is the evidence from 
Mt-. Philp of the apparent conflict between the verbal advice 
and the letters being received from Mr . McKirdy. In all the 
circumstances the Judge had ample reason to reach the conclu­
sions he did about the latter's conduct over these later 
stages, and about Mr . Cockburn's complicity with him. 

The Judge accepted that tho Board had no lmow­
ledge of Mr. McKirdy's misconduct and was not prepared to 
make a declaration that it had acted dishonestly. He felt 
that in the final stages Mrs. Hall was persuaded to join 
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in the conspiracy, and her failure tr) Bivc evidence did 
not assist her caso. However we thinl<: ouch an inference 
was more than the circumstances justified for such a serious 
reflection on her character. Mrs . Hall was, of course , in 

the position of getting a far better bargain if the sale to 
Bilo Limited f ell through because she did not have to remedy 
the breaches or share the proceeds of the Cockburn sale . 
There is littl e to suggest that she lmew anything about the 
Company's work on the property or tho arrangements it made 
with 1ft' . Cork . She see.ms to have loft the Bil o matter 
entirely to him and the solicitors, who were acting for all 
parties, and her own solicitors advised her in the sale to 
Cockburn. There is nothing ·to suggest she knew of his 

dealing with l'b:' . McKirdy. 

~'tr' . Chauhan cane in for strong criticisn for 

a i ding and abetting rar . Cockburn in tho conspiracy which he 
found existed and certainly his conduct over the caveat may 

not bear close scrutiny into his profcnBional competence . 
But we must point out that he was appareni,ly given no 
indication that such a finding night be ..ia.do against him, 
nor any opportunity to cxpl:til..i. tho situation. It may well 
be that he simply accepted f.1r . Cockburn's aclvico that there 
was a signed sale note of 24th October 1980 and although 
this might have been unwise, it does not necessarily 
suggest collusion to produce a false document based on a 
false declaration. We now lmow the Judge was mistaken in 
criticising him for the way he prepared the final sale agree­
ment betweGn Mrs. Hall BJ1d Mr. Cockburn signed on the 9th 
April 1981. Correspondence produced to us by consent , to 
which we have referred, makes it clear that he dealt with 
l,'tr's. Hall through her own solicitors over this transaction 
and thereby acted with propriety. 1~e must therefore 
conclude that the criticism of him BJ1d his firm may 
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not have been justified and in the circumstances should not 
have been made. 

The Board's Consent: 

After holding that the Board's refusal to consent 
was not final in the circumstances, and that Mrs . Hall should 
have given Bilo Limited the opportunity to comply with the 
new conditions, the Judge went on to deal with the effect o:f 
the transactions between Mr . Philp, his solicitors and 
Mr. McKirdy in considering whether he could hold that consent 
had in fact been given by the Board. This was never pleaded 
by the plaintiff, nor was it apparently relied on at the trial 
He pointed out that Section 12(1) of the Native Land Trust .P0+ 

(which deals with consents to assignnents) does not require 
consent to be in writing. It simply recited that it must be 
first had and obtained. He concluded that the Board did 
consent or must be deemed to have consented to the transfer, 
and in these circumstances the purported refusal of 31st Tu'.farch 
must be considered a nullity. In support of this he decided 
there was no breach by Atrs . Hall of any of the conditions of 
the lease at the relevant time. ~Ar. McKirdy sim.:ply failed . 
to appreciate that there was no building covenant . He dis­
cussed the application of clause 14- which we read as requiring 
the tenant to maintain and repair bu1lding8 already erected 
on the land. He also felt that there had been no breach o:f 
clause 18 dealing with soil erosion, but in any event the 
work specified had been duly completed by Bilo Limited. 
Accordingly he held that the Board ' s consent must be deemed 
to have been given to the proposed transaction because it 
could not seek to enforce the non- existent building covenant 
and nothing further needed to be done by Bilo Limited. 
Alternatively he thought that :Ml:' . McKirdy had specified its 
requirements and committed the Board to grant consent when 
they were met; or in fact it consented subject to them being 
met. 
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Attractive though those conclusions r;iay be, we 
regret that wo arc unable to accopt then. First, although 

the Act does not require a written consent, it is clear from 
the printed forr:i used by th~ Board (which, incidentally, docs 
not accord with Form 3 in the Regulations) that is contem­
pl ates consont will be in writing, and this points away from 
any intention by llr. McKirdy to give an oral consent . 
Secondly, the letters :from hin consistently maintained that 
the Board required the breaches to be ro~cdied before it 
would consider the application and we cannot read anything 
further into the assurancus by 1.'lr . IicKirdy and other officers 
beyond their own view that any application would then be 
favourably regarded. This is nothing more than an indication, 
and is all that enquirers would normally be seeking in these 
circu.msta.nccs . Thirdly, we are quite satisfied thut this is 
how Mr . Philp understood these assurances. The correspondence 
f'rom him and his solicitors - as well as their pleadings -
cl early demonstrate that they lmcw consent had not been 
granted. 

The provisions of section 12(1) (which we aet 
out later) make it quite clear that the Board has an absolute 
discretion whether or not to consent to a transaction. We 
agree with Sir John Falvoy 1 s submission that the conditions 
which it sought to impose in this instance wore within its 
competence, even though they r:Jay have been the r esult of a 
misunderstanding of the lease by somo of its officers . 
He referred us to Gibson v . lfanchester City Council (1979) 
1 All E. n . 972 in support of his submission that a statement 
the Board will give consideration to the application fol low­
ing fulfiln.ont of its requirements docs not ncan that it will 
give its consent. This accords with ·i;he views we have just 
expressed. 



25 -

Illegality : 

Having concluded that there was no consent, 
we now turn to the question of illegality. Section 12(1) 
of the Act reads :-

11 12.-(1) Except as may be otherwise provided 
by regulations made hereunder, it shall not be 
lawful for a:n.y lessee under this Act to 
alienate or deal with the land comprised in 
his lease or any pa.rt thereof, whether by sale, 
transfer or sublease or in any other manner 
whatsoever without the consent of tho Board 
as lessor or head lessor first had and 
obtained. The granting or withholding of 
consent shall be in the absolute discretion 
of the Board, and any sale, transfer, sublease 
or other unlawful alienation or dealing 
effected without such consent shall be null 
and void." 

Only Mr- . Cockburn raised illegality in his 
pleadings, and during the course of the t-rial counsel for 
Mrs . Hall and Cork Builders Limited raised the issue for 
the first time in their final addresses . It was considered 
at some length by the Judge who took the view that Bilo 
Limited did not go into possession of Lot 6, reclamation work 
having been done as required by the Board before it would 
grant its consent , and not under any provision of the agroe­
uent. It paid the balance of the purchase price to the 
sol icitor who was also acting for l~s. Hall and the Judge 
said it was difficult to understand why he prepared and 
obtained execution of tho transfer and thereafter paid her 
$5,000 and credited $4,000 to Idr. Cork. He referred to 
Mr . Keil's explanation that such payricnt was pursuant to 
the agreement which provided that the balance was payable in 
cash on production of a transfer of the lease . With respect 
we find no difficulty in understanding why Ur . Keil made 
those payments. His evidence demonstra tes that he did so 
in performance of tho aereeBcnt and furthermore that this 
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was dono in his capacity as solicitor for Dilo Limited. 

The Judge wont on to say that tho agroeocnt 
was inoperative until the Board's consont to the proposed 
transaction was obtainod and Jfr . Keil should not have paid 
out a.ny trust moneys until then, a.nd had no authori+.., to do 
so. In such circucstances tho p;iynont could not be con­
sidered an implcnentation of the agr~ement by Bile Li.tdted 
and irrecover able on tho grounds that i t wns .:Uogal. In 
support he referred to D. B. Wo.ito (Overseas ) Ltd. v . Sidncl 
Lesl ie Wal.lath 18 F. L. ~ . 141 citing a passage on p . 145 by 
Gould V. P. to the effect tha.t pa.yraont of a deposit under an 
agreement which was t1a.de subject to the Board ' s consent did 
not render it unlawful . However, tho circu.cstruiccs of that 
case arc very different from this situation, whoro the whol e 
of tho purchase price was paid. 

~1e J)rovioione of Section 12(1) are drartic 
and a.re very widely expressed . They have been considered 
and applied in a number of cases , pcrha.ps the leadinB one 
being Chalmers v . Pardoe (1963) 3 All E. R. 552 where vhe 
Judicial Cotlr.littoc accepted tha.t ther e JJUSt necessarily 
be somo prior agreement , so that the nero fa.ct of its 
existence is not of itself a breach of the section. In 
Jai Kissun Singh v . Suru.ntra (1970) 16 F. L. R. 165, 170 
Gould V. P. said a signed aBreoment, held inoperative and 
inchoate while consent is being sought, is not caught by 
section 12 . Tho problea lice in deterLlining what acts 
done in relation to that agreement constitute it a "dealing" 
with the land , rcndcrinp it illegal. The conaonsus of tho 
cajor ity in that case suggests that this would occur once it 
was acted upo as a valid ag:reocent for sali ( otipkins J . A) 
or i.mplencnted in any way touching the land (G ..ud V. P. ) 



- 27 -

1!r. Reddy referred us to the judaTJcnt of Henry J . A. in 
Phala.d v . Suldl Raj C. A. 43 of 1978 of 8th D~ccubcr 1978. At 
pa@- 9 he said : -

"The v,ords ' alienate' and ' deal with' 
o.s elaborated in s_ction 12, are absolute anu 
do not pcrnit conditional acts in contravention. 
If bof ore cons.. t, acts ar'"' t::. •• :ending the 
gra.ntinG of consent , which corao within tho 
prohibited transn.ctiona, tl ~ t' section has 
been broached and later consent cnnnot naJce 
lawful that which was earlier unlaw:ful and 
null an void , ':his does not cut across the 
cases already cited which dcnl with the 
info.ma ion f ~e c~n~ract a::; contrasted with 
an incodiatoly opcrn~ivo agrcc1.1cnt and 
oubstantivc a.eta in pcrforrnnco thereof. 11 

Vic agree ·that i:f Bilo Lii.."li tcd had confined i ta 
actions to remedying the breachco on behalf of Mrs , Hall for 
which she was responsible, they would not be re{':lrl •d ao 
pcrforoa.ncc of tho agreement noounting to a "de!"llin r with 
tho land" • But fron the correspondence, confir.ocd by 

Mr. Philp•o evidence , .he compnny did oorc than thi ; _t 
cleared tho land a.nd moved tho dividing :fence to tho Queens 
Road frontage , thereby keeping out the pll'ulic and taking 
over possession so thnt i' could b~ used in coniunction 
with the other two lots (4 and 5) acquired froLJ Cork Buil ders 
LiDi tcd e Ev.:?n thvugb lilu..o was done at I~ . I cKirdy 't su._~gcs­
tion i t must be regarded ns ~~ act of po sc oion pursll!l.l~t 
to the ngrocmcnt 1 Taken in conjunction with payment and 
crediting of' the full purchaoc price by the coopany •s 
solicitors to ltrs . Hall and Cork Builders rospcctivoly -
also done in toms of the ng:rocment - tho situation was 
reached where the onJ.y natter rcl'laininB to be done by the 
purchaser was obtainin t tl ,., c"'nscnt and the leg,-1 fornali ty 

of receiving and roLP,otoring the transfer , already aignod. 
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Thcao actions take tho caso :for bayond the 
situation where the agreet10nt was merely held inopr>rntivo 
and inchoate ~hilo consent was boing sought, and wo filust 
come regretfully to tee conclus.vn tna~ ~hey convor~'-~ it 
into a "dealing" with the land, r ender ed it illegal, null 
and void by the Section. \'!/o say "regretfully" bocauoe of 
the Judgc•e asscssoent that ltr . Philp acted throueuou~ in 
good fa.ith in hio dealings with tho other parties . However, 
he must be bound by his solicitors • conduct in carryini3 out 
the terI:1.S of the agr i:it; in paying over the .;1.oney t.tr . : ..... il 
was clearly acting within the scope o:f his p;cnoro.l authority 
froo Bilo LiIIU ted , Both of them lm1,.;w that lihe non.rd I s 

consent was needed and that "'t 11n.d IlOt. t ... '-n obtain..,J .hen 
their respective acts of pcrforL1'll'lc~ t;ook place . Mr . Keil 
aclmowlcd[;ed this . 

The Jud""c t.ook a robust view of the cqui ta.bl~ 
r oncdios a.vailabl o to Bilo Limited . Wo a.re satisfied -that 
had it not b een for the illagality, relief of the vf~ 

diacUDaed in ChaL.1cro v . Pardoe could hnve 'hcor given, but 
tho case also recognised tha:~ equitable ri&its cannot be 
brought in .. o 00ine by an unlawful transaction. Thut company 
is also unable to enforce any rights arisina under the o.groo­
nont itself, or dependent upon its oxistcnca . 

-tr . '1cddy subci ttc#1 tl '1.t +'}c ll ,ali ty in this 
transaction stc.oood froL1 the provioua d<>'llinga between .?ix. Cork 
and hie cor.ipany and 11rs . Hall , wnich ho said v, ... rc also in 
cor.tra, .:m .. .a.on of Section 12; nn.-1 th u o. tt s o ca ... or lx . Cork 
was donling with Bil o Lini tccl as princi "'.., 1, by way of !'\ 

sub-sale on his own behalf . Apart irora the fact thot ~he 
part.i(...s immediately involvccl :ia.r~ tt,.., .. z_lo I a plcadL.g v-f' 

his aaoncy, all the evidc-ncc points to this fac~ and we 
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arc satisfied the Judge was correct in his finuing to this 
effect . Accordingly, the only material relevant to illegality 
is to be found in relation to the agreol:'.lcnt of 26th November 

1980. 

1~. ICnight appeared for Cork Builaers Lim.tad 
in the appeal but took no part in the arg11,-:1ont as his client 
was not affected by the Supreme Court judgment . However, 
he was concerned lost any question should arise which flight 
invol ve that co1;1pa.ny, especially in view of Ilr. Reddy's claim 
of previous illegality, which was only nade in his additional 
grounds of appeal . Vic told Mr. Knight wc would call on hiu 
only if it appeared his client night be faced with liability. 
As this jud(P:lent indicates no finding adverse to it, we do 
not need to hear from hiB. 

He was unable to give any indication of his 

client's attitude to the question of refunding the money 
credited to it by Itr . Keil. On the other hand, 1!:r . Latccf 
told us that l-/Irs . Hall is prepared to pay Bilo Linited the 
$5,000 which she earlier attempted to refund if that Conpany 
is held not to be entitled to the land. While we do not 
take this ns n bindine undertaking or assurance , this atti­
tude serves to confirn the view of 1.trs . Hall ' c good faith 
which we arrived at earlier in this judgoont. 

In the result both appeals nust succeed; the 
declaration made in the court below in respect of the Board's 
(third defcndant •s) refusal of consent, and tho finding that 

it had already consontcd to the transfer of the lease, are 
set aside, as are the orders decreeing specific porformru1ce 
by l"frs . Hall (first defendant) of ·i;he agrcencnt and the 
execution by her of a rc~istcrablc transfer . It also follow□ 
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that tho order that Caveat No . 18336 re:oain in fu.11 force 
must be set aside , since thorc was no valid agreement to 
support it , Simlarly, the orders for costs ~ust be set 
aside . 

fl/ 

·tie consider this to be one of the rare si tua.tions 
in which tho Court should cxercioe its discretion not to 
award costs to the successful appellants . The issue of 
illegality on which they have now succeeded nas raised only 
by r'T. Cockburn in the pleadings, and was apparently not 
r 0liod on at tho trial by the other defendants until closing 
submissions . In view of the conclusions we have reached 
about Nr. Cockburn's conduct (which to a significo.nt e::::tent 
support the findings of the trial Judge) we think it would 
be unjust to award him costs when he hus avoided the conse­
quences that a judgment on tho acrits would have involved 
only by the finding of illegality. Bil o Lirn.ted acted in 
good faith and did not set out deliberately to breach 
Section 12(1 ), as happens in so rw.ny caGes . It is a heavy 

l oser. Because of Mr . McKirdy ' s complicity we also think 
it would be unjust to award costs to the Board . Indeed, 
after considering the matters brought to lie:ht by this 
litigation, tho Board may find itself able to re2cdy the 
harm done by its ovm of ficer to Bilo Limited , should it 
be asked to consent to another application. We und~rstand 
the one given to the Cockburn t r ansacti on nay now have 
l apsGd . 

\-1/11ile the judgment did not iLlplicate Cork 
Builders Limited we find its apparent willingness t o retain 
the money it received frora Bilo Limted a factor which Iilust 
influence us against awarding costs to it. ].'frs . Ho.11 1 s 
attitude (expressed through her counsel) is consistent with 
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the fair dealing which we would have expected all the 
de:fcnclanta in this unfortunate cpioodc to hn.ve diopla.yl'.:ld . 
Costs in rolation to Corle Builders Lit1..; ~cc! nnd 11r.-. . ~11 
a.re rcsorvccl and wa will conoidor :further submiosions from 
cowiscl, \7hich U"?.y be in ·vri +:.ng if deo_re • There will 
be no ordor for costo i'or Mr . Cockburn or tho Bonrd, either 
in th1.. Su.t,4'cne Court or on "tuio appcnl . 

Sgd . G. D. 0pcight 

Vicc- ?rcsi cnt 

Sgd. B. 0 1 Rognn 

cal 

Sgd •1. E . Cuso ~ • 
Jucl~o of Appco.l 

; 
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